Public Document Pack

Northampton Local Area Planning
Committee
A meeting of the Northampton Local Area Planning Committee will be
held in the Jeffrey Room, The Guildhall, St Giles Street, Northampton,
NN1 1DE on Tuesday 5 October 2021 at 5.00 pm

Agenda
1.

Apologies for Absence and Appointment of Substitute Members

2.

Declarations of Interest
Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which they
may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting.

3.

Minutes (Pages 5 - 14)
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting of the Committee held on 7th September 2021.

4.

Chair's Announcements
To receive communications from the Chair.

5.

Deputations/Public Addresses

6.

Proposed Pre-Committee Site Visits
Report of the Assistant Director – Growth, Climate and Regeneration.
This will be included with the written update published in advance of the meeting.

7.

List of Current Appeals/Inquiries (Pages 15 - 16)

West Northamptonshire Council
www.westnorthants.gov.uk

Page 1

Planning Applications
a)

N/2021/0009
Demolition of existing building and redevelopment of site for purpose-built
student accommodation and ground floor/basement retail unit with landscaping
and associated works
Debenhams 33 - 39 Drapery Northampton
(Pages 19 - 40)

b)

N/2021/0031
Change of use from 4 occupants House in multiple occupation to a 5 occupants
House in multiple occupation.
35 Hood Street
(Pages 41 - 50)

c)

WNN/2021/0287 and WNN/2021/0288
Change of Use from restaurant (Use Class E) to Mixed Use Drinking
Establishment (Sui Generis) and Retail (Use Class E), to include placing of
tables, chairs, parasols and planters within curtilage of site.
Mr Grants House, 10 St Giles Square
(Pages 51 - 60)

9.

Urgent Business
The Chairman to advise whether they have agreed to any items of urgent business
being admitted to the agenda.

10.

Exclusion of Press and Public
Should Members decide not to make a decision in public, they are recommended to
resolve as follows:
“That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public and press be
excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that, if
the public and press were present, it would be likely that exempt information falling
under the provisions of Schedule 12A, Part I, Paragraph(s) XXXXX would be
disclosed to them, and that in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.”

Catherine Whitehead
Proper Officer
27 September 2021

Page 2

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee Members:
Councillor Jamie Lane (Chair)

Councillor Anna King (Vice-Chair)

Councillor Muna Cali

Councillor Nazim Choudary

Councillor Imran Ahmed Chowdhury BEM

Councillor Paul Clark

Councillor Raymond Connolly

Councillor Paul Dyball

Councillor Dennis Meredith

Councillor Cathrine Russell

Councillor Zoe Smith

Information about this Agenda
Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence and the appointment of substitute Members should be notified to
democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk prior to the start of the meeting.

Declarations of Interest
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the start
of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts &
Supplementary Estimates
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax
must declare that fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the
agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax.

Evacuation Procedure
If a continuous fire alarm sounds you must evacuate the building via the nearest available
fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the assembly area as directed by
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.

Access to Meetings
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as
possible before the meeting.

Mobile Phones
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off.

Page 3

Queries Regarding this Agenda
If you have any queries about this agenda please contact Ed Bostock, Democratic Services
via the following:
Tel: 01604 837722
Email: ed.bostock@westnorthants.gov.uk

Or by writing to:
West Northamptonshire Council
One Angel Square
Angel Street
Northampton
NN1 1ED

Page 4

Agenda Item 3

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee
Minutes of a meeting of the Northampton Local Area Planning Committee held at on
Tuesday 7 September 2021 at 6.00 pm.
Present

Councillor Jamie Lane (Chair)
Councillor Muna Cali
Councillor Imran Ahmed Chowdhury BEM
Councillor Paul Clark
Councillor Raymond Connolly
Councillor Dennis Meredith
Councillor Cathrine Russell
Councillor Zoe Smith

21.

Apologies
for
Absence:

Councillor Nazim Choudary

Officers:

Hannah Weston (Principal Planning Officer)
Adam Smith (Principal Planning Officer)
Theresa Boyd (Planning Solicitor)
Ed Bostock (Democratic Services)

Apologies for Absence and Appointment of Substitute Members
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Choudary.

22.

Declarations of Interest
Councillor Russell advised of a predetermination in respect of item 8e and stated that
she would address the Committee and leave the room whilst the item was under
discussion.
Councillor Clark declared an interest in respect of item 8a as a Ward Councillor for
Billing and Rectory Farm.
Councillor Connolly advised of a predetermination in respect of items 8e and 8f and
stated that he would leave the room whilst these items were under discussion.

23.

Minutes
The minutes of the meetings held on 1st June and 3rd August were agreed and signed
by the Chair.

Page 5

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee - 7 September 2021

24.

Chair's Announcements
None.

25.

Deputations/Public Addresses
RESOLVED:
That under the following items, the members of the public and Ward Councillors
listed below were granted leave to address the Committee:
N/2020/1516 & N/2020/1517
Andy Lord
N/2021/0031
Alex Jelley
N/2021/0084
Ali Ay
Jabeer Miah
N/2021/0372
Councillor E Roberts
Ali Ay
Jabeer Miah
WNN/2021/0185
Jane Birch
Pat Dooley
WNN/2021/0222
Pat Dooley
WNN/2021/0258
Tom Lambshead
WNN/2021/0281
Pat Dooley
WNN/2021/0429
Ali Ay

26.

Proposed Pre-Committee Site Visits
Site visits were not taking place at present.

27.

List of Current Appeals/Inquiries

Page 6

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee - 7 September 2021

The Chair advised of 2 recent appeal decisions; both had been dismissed by the
Planning Inspectorate. It was advised that appeals would be presented at the next
planning committee.
Councillor Clark left the meeting.
28.

Planning Applications

29.

N/2020/1516 & N/2020/1517
Conversion and extension of existing building to 26no flats, with the provision
of bin store areas and car parking
Former Pearce Leather Works, Wellingborough Road
The Principal Planning Officer submitted a report to the Committee which sought
approval for planning and listed building consent for the conversion and extension of
the building to provide 26 flats, with the provision of bin storage and car parking.
Members’ attention was drawn to the Addendum which included one additional
neighbour objection. The site was subject to a number of previous approvals, the
most recent being approved by Planning Committee on 19th May 2020. The
applications before the Committee today were almost identical; the flats had been
reconfigured internally to allow for 6 more. A large cross to the front of the building
proposed on the original submission had been removed and windows would be
slightly rearranged. Parking was above that required for the development. It was
advised that the principle of the development had been established within previous
approvals, and that the amended design, impact on the listed building, and impact
upon neighbouring amenity was considered acceptable. With regards to obligations,
it was advised that a viability appraisal had been submitted with the application and a
independent viability assessment concluded that the scheme would be unviable
should any affordable housing or other contributions be included. With the need to
secure the long-term retention of the listed building and with the viability assessment
concluding the scheme would be unviable with any contributions, the non-provision of
affordable housing and financial contributions was accepted.
Andy Lord, the agent on behalf of the applicant, spoke in favour of the application
and commented that whilst the proposed development was on the same footprint as
previously approved, the internal space had been better used to create additional
flats. Details remained the same and 26 EV charging points would be included as
part of the development.
In response to questions, Andy Lord confirmed that conditions were included to
ensure the effective investigation and remediation of contaminated land sites and that
the site was historically a head office for the leatherworks.
Councillor Chowdhury left the meeting.
Councillor Clark re - joined the meeting but did not participate in the discussion or
vote.
Members discussed the report.
RESOLVED:

Page 7

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee - 7 September 2021

That the 2 applications be APPROVED subject to the conditions and reasons as set
out in the report.
30.

N/2021/0031
Change of use from 4 occupants House in multiple occupation to a 5
occupants House in multiple occupation.
35 Hood Street
The Planning Team Leader submitted a report to the Committee which sought
approval for a change of use from a HMO for 4 occupants in the Boot and Shoe
Quarter Conservation Area to a HMO for 5 occupants. Since the property already had
permission as a HMO, area concentration was not a material consideration, and
Private Sector Housing had advised that the facilities were acceptable for 5
occupants. A condition was included to ensure that the basement would not be used
as habitable accommodation and to limit the number of occupiers of the property.
Alex Jelley, the agent on behalf of the applicant, commented that the Officer had
covered all of the points that he intended to raise.
In response to questions, the Committee heard that the living room at the front of the
property would be retained for communal use and that the site occupies a
sustainable location, close to public transport links and shopping facilities.
Members discussed the report.
RESOLVED:
That the application be DEFERRED to the next meeting.

31.

N/2021/0084
Conversion of single dwelling into 2no residential units, with internal
alterations.
51 Hunter Street
The Planning Team Leader submitted a report to the Committee which sought
approval for the conversion of a single dwelling into 2 flats. It was highlighted that
both flats would accord with the Nationally Described Space Standards, with the
ground floor flat comprising the larger of the two flats and benefiting from a small rear
garden.
Ali Ay, agent on behalf of the applicant, addressed the Committee and commented
that the Officer had covered all of the points he intended to raise.
Jabeer Miah, representing the applicant, spoke in favour of the application and
commented that the proposed flats were of a generous size, the ground floor flat
would benefit from an outdoor area. He noted that the applicant was a letting agent
who felt that flats provided better accommodation than HMOs.

Page 8

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee - 7 September 2021

In response to questions, the Committee heard that the applicant had no plans to
extend the property in the future.
Members discussed the report.
RESOLVED:
That the application be APPROVED subject to the conditions and reasons as set out
in the report.
32.

N/2021/0372
Single storey front extension forming new frontage and access to upper floor.
Single storey rear extension. Conversion of upper floor into 2no flats. Subdivision of ground floor shop into two units forming one retail unit (class E)
and one cafe/restaurant with take away use (sui generis). Installation of
extraction flue to rear side.
14 - 16 St Leonards Road
The Principal Planning Officer submitted a report to the Committee which sought
approval for a single storey extension forming a new frontage and access to the
upper floor, single storey rear extension, conversion of upper floor to 2 flats, subdivision of the ground floor shop into 2 units forming 1 retail unit (class E) and one
café/restaurant with takeaway and installation of an extraction flue to the rear.
Members’ attention was drawn to the addendum which contained one additional
neighbour objection. It was outlined that the site was in a sustainable location and
was currently vacant. The principle of the development was accepted as there are
examples of residential accommodation at first floor within the area and the ground
floor uses would bring a vacant unit back into use, contributing towards the vitality
and viability of the local centre. It was not considered that the design of the
extensions would harm the appearance of the area. The application site was located
within a sustainable location close to public transport links and shopping facilities and
as such the nil provision of car parking was accepted. Waste storage and cycle
storage were proposed to the front and rear of the property and within the proposed
flats.
Councillor E Roberts, in her capacity as a Ward Councillor for Delapre & Briar Hill,
spoke against the application and expressed concern around waste and parking
issues. She noted that restaurants were not prevalent on this side of the street and
stated that the flat roof was concerning, noting that the area suffered regularly with
flooding. She stated that the Planning Department needed to start working more
closely with Highways and the Local Flood Authority and Highways could not
continue not accepting parking surveys. Councillor Roberts did not agree that the
uses would improve the vitality and viability of the area.
Ali Ay, the agent on behalf of the applicant, spoke in favour of the application and
commented that the development would bring a long-time empty building back into
use, and the applicant had worked with planning to ensure the application was
acceptable.

Page 9

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee - 7 September 2021

Jabeer Miah, representing the applicant, spoke in favour of the application and
commented that the applicant proposed to sell healthy food from the premises. The
upstairs dwellings were not HMOs and the location was considered sustainable. Mr
Miah advised that the shop had been empty since October 2020 and there had been
no interest in it since. It was advised that there are a lot of shops closing and there is
a need to keep the street working with viable uses.
In response to questions, the Committee heard from Mr Miah that the extension did
not warrant additional drainage works as it was a small extension and the existing
building is a shop.
In response to questions, the Principal Planning Officer advised that fire protection
was the remit of Building Control and so not a consideration for the Planning
Committee for a development of this size. It was advised that it would be
unreasonable to require parking for this development due to its highly sustainable
location, and that Planning Inspectors are consistently advising that development in
sustainable locations do not require parking, as people choose the area due to its
sustainable location where they can walk or cycle into the town centre and local
services.
Members discussed the report.
RESOLVED:
That the application be APPROVED subject to the conditions and reasons as set out
in the report.
33.

WNN/2021/0185
Change of Use from Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to House in Multiple
Occupation (Sui Generis) for 13no occupants
3 Langham Place
Councillor Connolly left the meeting, having declared a predetermination in respect of
the following 2 items.
The Principal Planning Officer submitted a report to the Committee which sought
approval for a change of use from dwellinghouse to HMO for 13 occupants.
Members’ attention was drawn to the addendum which contained additional
objections from neighbours and a councillor, and letters of support from a third party.
The Principal Planning Officer advised that the site was currently vacant and had
become overgrown. Should the application be approved, the concentration of HMOs
in a 50m radius would be 4.5%, well below the 10% limit. All of the proposed
bedrooms exceeded minimum space requirements and the facilities provided within
the building also exceeded the requirements of the Council’s HiMO SPD. Whilst no
additional parking would be provided, the location was considered sustainable,
situated close to public transport links and shopping facilities. It was proposed that
the lightwells be increased in size to allow for more light to enter the basement
bedrooms and it was not considered that this would have a negative impact on the
conservation area. The development would bring an unused building back into use.

Page 10

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee - 7 September 2021

Councillor Russell spoke against the application and commented that the application
was an overdevelopment. Cllr Russell expressed concern around parking and
security and stated that she would prefer to see the building converted to 3 or 4 flats.
Concern was raised that some landlords were not good and rubbish could be left on
the street. Concern was also raised with how save the building would be during
COVID.
After addressing the Committee, Councillor Russell left the room for the remainder of
the item.
Jane Birch, Member of Trinity Ward and Semilong Neighbourhood Forum expressed
concern around 13 unrelated households all living in close proximity as well as
potential antisocial behaviour. Jane Birch stated that she would also prefer to see
several flats instead of an HMO and the current scheme was overdevelopment.
Concern was raised with the impact of the building on the Conservation Area and
Listed Buildings, and the lack of parking provision. It was further raised that the hotel
adjacent had large levels of anti-social behaviour and this use could add to this.
Concern was raised about 13 unrelated people sharing facilities.
Pat Dooley, the agent on behalf of the applicant, spoke in favour of the application
and commented that the property would be completed to a very high standard which
would make residents want to stay. He noted that conversion to flats would
necessitate parking provision which was unfeasible on this site. The property was too
large to be used as a family home and the concentration of existing HMOs was well
below the Council’s limit of 10% in a 50m radius. It was advised that the concern over
how the site would be run was not a planning matter and there was no evidence this
one would be run poorly. The site is high standard with large rooms, and it was
hoped people would stay – the aim was for professional occupiers.
In response to questions Patrick Dooley advised that Committee that the HiMO use
was considered the most appropriate as you do not need a vehicle. It was further
advised that whilst en-suite bathrooms were desirable in HMOs, they were not a
requirement, and that the opinion that high end residents would not want to live here
was a personal opinion.
In response to questions the Principal Planning Officer advised that only the current
scheme could be assessed, and it could not be advised if flats would be acceptable
in this location.
Members discussed the report.
RESOLVED:
That the application be REFUSED against the officer recommendation on the
grounds of overdevelopment resulting in harm to the character and appearance of
the conservation area and parking concerns.
34.

WNN/2021/0222
Change of Use from Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to House in Multiple

Page 11

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee - 7 September 2021

Occupation (Use Class C4) for 6 occupants
1 Military Road
Councillor Russell re-joined the meeting at this juncture.
The Planning Team Leader submitted a report to the Committee which sought
approval for a change of use from dwellinghouse to HMO for 6 occupants. Members’
attention was drawn to the addendum which contained a proposed amendment to
Condition 3. In addition, it was highlighted that Highways had not objected to the
application, due to parking restrictions in the area; should the application be
approved, the concentration of HMOs in a 50m radius would be 9.47%; and Private
Sector Housing have advised that the facilities are acceptable for the proposed
number of occupants.
Pat Dooley, the agent on behalf of the applicant, spoke in favour of the application
and noted that a very similar application nearby was refused by the Northampton
Borough Council Planning Committee in 2020 on parking grounds and was allowed
at appeal. He stated that there was scope within this property for en-suites in the
future and there was substantial communal space in the property.
In response to questions, the Committee heard that a condition prevented the
basement from being used as bedrooms.
Members discussed the report.
RESOLVED:
That the application be APPROVED subject to the conditions and reasons as set out
in the report and amended Condition 3 contained in the addendum.
35.

WNN/2021/0250
Reserved Matters Application (details of appearance, landscaping, layout and
scale) pursuant to Outline Planning Permission N/2020/1212 for Phases 1, 2
and 3 for the construction of Warehouse and Distribution Units (Use Class B8)
with ancillary office accommodation, means of access, with service yards,
parking, landscaping, boundary treatments and other associated infrastructure
Howdens Joinery Liliput Road
Councillor Connolly re-joined the meeting at this juncture.
The Principal Planning Officer submitted a report to the Committee which sought
approval for a reserved matters application pursuant to Outline Planning Permission
N/2020/1212 for Phases 1, 2 and 3 for the construction of Warehouse and
Distribution Units (Class b8) with ancillary office accommodation, means of access,
with service yards, parking, landscaping and other associated infrastructure. Outline
planning permission was granted in April 2021 and the factory had now been
demolished. It was advised that three units were proposed, each with their own car
park, servicing, gatehouses, sprinkler systems, substations, cycle storage, and
smoking shelters. Officers considered the proposed appearance, layout, scale and
landscaping were acceptable.

Page 12

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee - 7 September 2021

Members discussed the report.
RESOLVED:
That the application be APPROVED subject to the conditions and reasons as set out
in the report.
36.

WNN/2021/0258
Erection of ancillary single storey lake house building, landscaping works,
provision of external staff facilities, erection of plant equipment including
generator compound, works to car park and ancillary works
Barclaycard 1234 Pavilion Drive Northampton
The Principal Planning Officer submitted a report to the Committee which sought
approval for the erection of an ancillary single storey timber clad lake house building,
landscaping works, the provision of external staff facilities, the erection of plant
equipment including a generator compound, works to a car park and ancillary works.
The Principal Planning Officer advised of an error on page 104 , paragraph 10.1, at
the last sentence should not include the requirement of a S106 legal agreement as
such an agreement was not needed for a development of this size. It was advised
that the proposed works would enhance facilities for a major employer in
Northampton and would not harm the appearance of the wider area, residential
amenity, or highway safety.
Tom Lambshead, the agent on behalf of the applicant, spoke in favour of the
application and commented that the proposal would improve the viability of the
building and health of the staff. He advised that there was no increased flood risk or
harm to trees and ecology and conditions secure this. It was advised that the
applicant wishes to continue to invest in facilities.
Members discussed the report.
RESOLVED:
That the application be APPROVED subject to the conditions and reasons as set out
in the report.

37.

WNN/2021/0281
Change of Use from Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to House in Multiple
Occupation (Use Class C4) for 6 occupants
111 Cecil Road
The Planning Team Leader submitted a report to the Committee which sought
approval for a change of use from dwellinghouse to HMO for 6 occupants. Members’
attention was drawn to the addendum which contained an additional neighbour
representation. In addition, it was highlighted that should the application be approved,
the concentration of HMOs in a 50m radius would be 6.25%; Private Sector Housing
had confirmed that the facilities were acceptable for the number of occupants and
cycle and waste storage was proposed to the rear of the property.

Page 13

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee - 7 September 2021

Pat Dooley, the agent on behalf of the applicant, spoke in favour of the application
and commented that the property was of a large size and that the concentration was
well under the Council’s 10% limit.
Members discussed the report.
RESOLVED:
That the application be APPROVED subject to the conditions and reasons as set out
in the report.
38.

WNN/2021/0429
Ground floor level rear side balcony terrace with garage underneath for car
parking, with external alterations to rear side.
40 Gloucester Avenue
The Principal Planning Officer submitted a report to the Committee which sought
approval for the construction of a ground floor level rear side balcony terrace with a
garage underneath for car parking, and external alterations to the rear side. The
proposal was not considered to have an adverse impact on the surrounding area.
Ali Ay, the agent on behalf of the applicant, addressed the Committee and
commented that the Planning Officer had covered all of the points he wished to
make.
Members discussed the report.
RESOLVED:
That the application be APPROVED subject to the conditions and reasons as set out
in the report.

39.

Urgent Business
None.

The meeting closed at 8.07 pm

Chair:
Date:

Page 14

Agenda Item 7
Planning Service – Northampton Area
Assistant Director Economic Growth & Regeneration: Jim Newton

List of Appeals and Determinations –5th October 2021
Written Reps Procedure
Application No.

DEL/PC

Description

Decision

N/2019/1374
APP/V2825/W/20/3259799

DEL

New detached two storey dwelling, double garage and associated hard landscaping at
74 Barley Lane

AWAITED

N/2020/1225
APP/V2825/W/21/3275893

DEL

Erection of 4no dwellings at Development Land at Ashmead

AWAITED

N/2020/1513
APP/V2825/W/21/3271424

DEL

Conversion of Duplex Apartment into 2no Apartments (Retrospective) (Amendment to
N/2019/1546) at 48 Abington Avenue

N/2020/1544
APP/V2825/W/21/3274010

DEL

New detached stone dwelling on land to the rear of Clare Cottage, Quinton Road

AWAITED

N/2021/0044
APP/V2825/D/21/3275303

DEL

Replacement of existing windows with UPVC windows (Revised application following
refusal of N/2020/0886) at 5 St Georges Place

AWAITED

N/2021/0171
APP/V2825/D/21/3278551

DEL

New vehicular access to facilitate footway vehicle crossover at 41 Park Avenue North

AWAITED

DISMISSED

Public Inquiry
None

Hearings
None

Enforcement Appeals
None

Tree Preservation Order (TPO) Appeals
None
The Address for Planning Appeals is:
Mr Brian Rowe, Room 301, The Planning Inspectorate, Temple Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol BS1 6PN.
Appeal decisions can be viewed at - https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
Background Papers
The Appeal Papers for the appeals listed

Author and Contact Officer:
Nicky Scaife, Development Manager (Interim)
Telephone 01604 837692
Planning Service
The Guildhall, St Giles Square,
Northampton, NN1 1DE

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Annex

Addendum to Agenda Items
Tuesday 5th October 2021

8. ITEMS FOR DETERMINATION
Item 8a (HW)
N/2021/0009
Demolition of existing building and redevelopment of site for purpose-built student
accommodation and ground floor/basement retail unit with landscaping and associated
works
Debenhams 33 - 39 Drapery
A further letter has been received from a neighbouring property who has previously commented
on this application. This letter reiterates concerns over the impact of the proposed use on an
existing entertainment venue due to likely noise complaints from student occupiers on this existing
entertainment venue. The letter advises that the neighbour remains of the opinion that a noise
assessment would be required prior to the determination of the application to ensure an
acceptable relationship between the existing and proposed uses. The letter raises that Public
Protection originally put forward a holding objection in respect of the application until the noise
impact from the Boston Public House is fully assessed representative of normal operation hours
(post Covid) prior to determination of the application. The letter advises that the application
should be deferred or refused on this basis or face a challenge in the courts.
It is the case that Public Protection did originally advise that an amended noise report would be
required prior to determination of the application however, following further conversations on this
matter with Public Protection it was agreed that this matter could be dealt with as a precommencement condition. Details of noise mitigation are required through proposed conditions 16
and 17 of this application, the wording of which has been agreed with the Councils Public
Protection team. These conditions cover the required noise report and would require that
acceptable noise mitigation measures for the proposed use are implemented on site.
Item 8b (KS)
N/2021/0031
Change of use from 4 occupants House in multiple occupation to a 5 occupants House in
multiple occupation.
35 Hood Street
No update.

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8a

Planning Committee Report
Committee Date:

5th October 2021

Application Number: N/2021/0009
Location:

Debenhams , 33 - 39 Drapery, Northampton

Development:

Demolition of existing building and redevelopment of site for
purpose-built student accommodation and ground
floor/basement retail unit with landscaping and associated
works

Applicant:

Drapery Property Northampton Limited

Agent:

Scott Hobbs Planning

Case Officer:

Hannah Weston

Ward:

Castle Unitary Ward

Referred By:

Assistant Director of Place and Economy

Reason for Referral: Major application

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS AND RECOMMENDATION
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS AND SUBJECT
TO THE COMPLETION OF A S106 LEGAL AGREEMENT
Proposal
The application proposes the demolition of the existing building and the redevelopment of the
site for purpose-built student accommodation with 201 bedspaces and ground
floor/basement retail unit with landscaping and associated works.
Consultations
The following consultees have raised no objections to the application:
 Public Protection
 Archaeology
 Lead Local Flood Authority
 West Northamptonshire Council Key Services
 Northamptonshire Police
 Construction Futures
The following consultees have objected or raised concerns with the scheme:

Page 19






Conservation
Town Centre Conservation Area Advisory Committee
Northampton Area Planning Policy
Community Safety and Engagement Team

The following consultees have raised no comment on the scheme:
 Historic England
 Environment Agency
 Anglian Water
 Highways
Five letters objecting to the application, one letter raising observations and one letter in
support of the application have been received.
Conclusion
The application has been assessed against the relevant policies in the NPPF, the adopted
Local Plan and other relevant guidance as listed in detail at Section 8 of the report.
The report looks into the key planning issues in detail, and Officers conclude that the
proposal is acceptable subject to conditions and the completion of a S106 agreement to
secure the planning obligations referred in paragraph 8.47 below.
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment and recommendations, and
Members are advised that this summary should be read in conjunction with the
detailed report.
MAIN REPORT

1.

APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY

1.1

The application site is located within Northampton Town Centre on the western side of
Drapery and eastern side of College Street and forms the former Debenhams
Department Store.

2.

CONSTRAINTS

2.1. To the north of the site is a Grade II listed Bank at 41 Drapery, to the south of the site
are locally listed buildings at 27, 29 and 31 Drapery. To the rear of the site is the Grade
II listed College Street Baptist Church. There are a number of listed buildings opposite
the site on Drapery. The application site itself is not listed or locally listed.
2.2. The site is located within the All Saints Conservation Area.

3.

DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

3.1. The application proposes the demolition of the existing building and the redevelopment
of the site for purpose-built student accommodation with 201 bed spaces and ground
floor/basement retail unit with landscaping and associated works.

4.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1

There is no recent relevant planning history.

Page 20

5.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE
Statutory Duty

5.1. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
Development Plan
5.2. The Development Plan comprises the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy
Local Plan (Part 1) which was formally adopted by the Joint Strategic Planning
Committee on 15th December 2014 and which provides the strategic planning policy
framework for the District to 2029, the adopted Local Plan (Part 1 – saved policies) and
adopted Neighbourhood Plans. The relevant planning policies of the statutory
Development Plan are set out below:
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) (LPP1)
5.3. The relevant polices of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan
(Part 1) are:
 S1 – The distribution of development
 S2 – Hierarchy of Centres
 S3 – Scale and distribution of housing development
 S10 – Sustainable Development Principles
 C2 – New developments
 E1 – Existing employment areas
 H1 – Housing density and mix and type of dwellings
 BN5 – Historic Environment
 BN9 – Pollution control
 INF1 and 2 – Infrastructure delivery
 N1 – The regeneration of Northampton
Northampton Central Area Action Plan 2013 (CAAP)
5.4. The relevant policies are:
 1 – Promoting Design Excellence
 11- Town Centre Boundary
 12 - Primary Shopping Area
 13 – Improving the retail offer
 16 – Central Area Living
 32 - Drapery
Material Considerations
5.5. Below is a list of the relevant Material Planning Considerations


National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the current aims and
objectives for the planning system and how these should be applied. In delivering
sustainable development, decisions should have regard to the mutually dependent
social, economic and environmental roles of the planning system. The NPPF
should be read as one complete document. However, the following sections are of
particular relevance to this application:

Page 21

o
o
o
o
o
o
o




6.

Paragraphs 7-12 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development.
Section 6 – Building a strong and competitive economy
Section 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities.
Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport
Section 11 – Making effective use of land
Section 12 – Design
Paragraph 187 – impact of development on existing business

Northamptonshire County Parking Standards (November 2016)
Northampton Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (November
2019)
Planning out crime in Northamptonshire SPG (2004)
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION
Below is a summary of the consultation responses received at the time of writing this
report. Responses are available to view in full on the Council’s website.
Consultee Name

Comment

Original Plans - Object – demolition of Debenhams
would fail to preserve the character of All Saints
Conservation Area and the replacement building
would not be an enhancement. If the harm is
considered to be outweighed by the wider public
benefit of providing accommodation in the town
centre, request condition requiring the development
does not occur until a contract for the carrying out of
the redevelopment is in place to ensure there is not a
gap in the conservation area if development does not
proceed.
Amended Plans – No comment
Town Centre Conservation Regret loss of existing building which has been
Area Advisory Committee
important part of Northampton’s street scene for 60
years.
However, on balance feel the case for
demolition has been made. Want College Street and
Swan Yard elevations to be well designed. Want
access to internal courtyard by all. Question need for
student accommodation and want flats. Question
viability of retail units on the ground floor.
Archaeological assessment of the site would be
needed.
Historic England
No comment.
Public Protection
No objection subject to conditions requiring a CEMP,
a demolition asbestos survey, contamination, sound
limits, details of glazing and ventilation, noise
attenuation, waste strategy, delivery times, external
lighting.
Environment Agency
No comment.
Anglian Water
No comment.
Archaeology
No objection subject to condition on a programme of
archaeological work.
Lead Local Flood Authority
No objection subject to conditions on surface water
drainage.
Conservation

Page 22

Highways
No comment
Northampton Area Planning Concern with loss of canopy to front. Principle of
Policy
converting upper floors is supported as the scheme
maintains an active retail frontage at ground level
which is vital in primary shopping area. Concern with
proposed student use as there is an appropriate
supply of student accommodation in Northampton.
West
Northamptonshire Request contributions towards libraries, conditions on
Council Key Services
fire hydrants and broadband.
Community
Safety
and No consultation with university about need for student
Engagement Team
accommodation and believe not needed. Plans to
open up and create a courtyard off Swan Yard could
improve the area and create guardianship and
onlookers, assisting in deterring anti-social behaviour,
or alternatively street drinkers and homeless could
gain access to site and cause further nuisance. Bin
store - would expect store to be responsible for putting
bin out for collection.
Northamptonshire Police
Request conditions on security and the management
of the building.
Construction Futures
Request a contribution towards construction training
on the site and a construction training scheme.

7.

RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY
Below is a summary of the third party and neighbour responses received at the time of
writing this report.

7.1. Five letters objecting to the application, one letter raising observations and one letter in
support of the application have been received. The comments can be summarised as
follows:
Objections and observations:
 Concern with more student accommodation in the city centre. Council should
provide starter homes. Student accommodation will be left empty during
holidays whereas flats wouldn’t be.
 Wish for building to remain and upper floors can be converted.
 Building should be retained and converted to more inventive uses such as
shops and boutique stores. Removing building destroys centre.
 Town centre is not inviting with few stores- Council should focus on
regenerating the town centre as opposed to student halls.
 Concern regarding impact on adjacent existing business uses, particularly in
respect of noise impacts.
 Proposals fail to set out how a satisfactory living environment will be achieved
for future occupiers
 Inadequate information provided by the Noise Report
Support:
 Brilliant idea. Brings beneficial use rather than another shop which will close
down. Student flats and hotels are needed to get more people into housing.

8.

APPRAISAL
Principle of Development

Page 23

8.1

The application proposes the demolition of the existing building and the erection of a
new building largely forming a student halls. A retail unit would be provided at part
ground floor and basement level fronting Drapery. The proposed student halls would
provide 201 x 1 bedroom studios (self-contained with en-suite and cooking facilities),
and 6 of these would be accessible studios for those with disabilities. In addition to the
student bedrooms, the proposed scheme provides a number of shared spaces for the
students, with study rooms, lounges, roof terrace, gym/amenity space, and central
garden courtyard, alongside a laundry and bin and bike stores. A front entrance to
Drapery is provided with reception and offices for the management of the student halls.

8.2

The proposal results in a significant reduction in retail floorspace to that existing, the
new building providing a ground floor retail unit of 115m² fronting Drapery, with the
existing building being a large department store over 4 floors, plus mezzanines, of
approximately 7425m² of retail floor space. A Vacancy Report has been submitted to
justify this reduction in retail floorspace. This report identifies that there are a number of
other large retail stores within the Northampton Town Centre which have remained
vacant for extended periods of time with little interest. Most notably, the former BHS
and Marks and Spencer buildings, which have remained largely empty since these
chains vacated the premises. With the known vacancy rates in the Town Centre, and
with two other department store buildings (arguably in a better shopping footfall
position) both remaining vacant for a considerable length of time, it is considered that
the reduction in retail floorspace in this instance at the Debenhams site is justified in
order to secure a viable use for the site.

8.3

With regards to the proposed student accommodation, the proposal would result in an
increase in the number of people residing within the town centre, which is consistent
with the strategic objectives of the CAAP, which calls for the repopulation of the town
centre and allows for the provision of student accommodation. Given that the proposed
development would be for bespoke student accommodation, it would not add to the
Council’s housing land supply, as it would be a sui generis use. However, it is
acknowledged that the development may reduce the demand for alternative sources of
student accommodation, such as Houses in Multiple Occupation, elsewhere within the
Borough. As such, the proposal would support the provision of a mixture of house
types across the Borough, as required by planning policy.

8.4

The proposal also provides an appropriate town centre ground floor use for the vacant
building, proposing a retail unit fronting the Drapery. The commercial use of the ground
floor fronting the Drapery would maintain an element of retail use for the building and
provide an active frontage at street level in this Primary Shopping Area and would
assist in supporting the general viability and vitality of the Town Centre.

8.5

Comments have been received in respect of the need for student accommodation
within Northampton. There is no planning policy requirement to demonstrate need or
any basis to object to the provision of student accommodation. Policy 16 of the CAAP
allows for the provision of student accommodation within the Central Area and, as
such, the use is considered an appropriate town centre use. Comments have also been
received within 3rd party and consultee letters that flats would be preferred, however
the assessment of the application can only be on that applied for, i.e., student
accommodation.

8.6

The proposal would bring a prominent site in the town centre and Conservation Area
back into use whilst contributing to the vitality and viability of the surrounding area in
accordance with planning policy. As such, the principle of the development as
proposed is accepted.

Page 24

Design and impact on character and appearance of the street scene and Heritage
Assets
Policy and Legislation background
8.7

The site is within the All Saints Conservation Area and adjacent to a number of listed
and locally listed buildings. The building is an example of a 1950s built department
store on a prominent site within the town centre, however, the building itself is not listed
or locally listed.

8.8

Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as
amended) states that in carrying out its functions as the Local Planning Authority in
respect of development in a conservation area: special attention shall be paid to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.

8.9

Likewise, Section 66 of the same Act states that: In considering whether to grant
planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the
local planning authority…shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses. Therefore, significant weight must be given to these matters in the
assessment of this planning application.

8.10 Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings are designated heritage assets, and
Paragraph 202 of the NPPF outlines that where a development proposal will lead to
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.
Demolition/Loss of existing building
8.11 In their original comments, the Council’s Conservation Officer has raised concern
regarding the demolition of the existing building advising that the demolition and
replacement building would fail to preserve or enhance the character of this part of the
Conservation Area and that the scale and frontage of the existing building has a
presence in the streetscene which complements the range of buildings in the Drapery.
The Conservation Officer acknowledges that the existing building does not contribute to
character of College Street.
8.12 The application site as existing comprises a large department store which has recently
become vacant due to the closing of Debenhams stores. The application proposes to
demolish the building and redevelop it for primarily residential use. Marketing
information has been provided to demonstrate that it is unlikely any future use could be
found for the existing building due to its size, and it is likely, therefore, that this building
would remain a large vacant building in the town centre, such as the existing vacant
M&S and BHS department stores. The proposal is for the redevelopment of this
prominent town centre site to provide a use which is suitable for a town centre, being
residential student accommodation and a replacement smaller retail unit. The
demolition of the existing building is required to secure this proposed future use.
8.13 Whilst the comments of the Conservation Officer are acknowledged, the loss of the
existing building and façade must be weighed against the public benefits of ensuring a
long-term viable use of the site and maintaining the vitality and viability of the town
centre whilst ensuring there is no substantial harm to surrounding heritage assets.

Page 25

8.14 The existing building is not listed or locally listed, and the proposed replacement
building would bring a viable use to the town centre with a design (discussed in more
detail below) which is considered to complement the existing street scene and
Conservation Area from the Drapery and improves the appearance of the site from
Swan Yard and College Street. Without this re-development the site is likely to remain
vacant within the town centre, which is considered a greater detriment to the town
centre and character and appearance of the Conservation Area than the loss of the
department store.
Design of replacement building
8.15 The existing building contains four stories (including a basement). The replacement
building would be seven stories internally, with one of these floors within the former
basement area of Debenhams. Whilst the proposal creates additional floors in
comparison to the existing building, this is largely through the ceiling height and
distance between floors being smaller, with the resultant building remaining largely the
same height overall as the existing building.
8.16 As existing, the Debenhams building is one large building footprint between the
Drapery and College Street and up to the edge of Swan Yard and the northern
boundary. The replacement building broadly follows a similar perimeter footprint
extending from the Drapery to College Street but includes a courtyard to the centre of
the building to create a shared amenity space at lower ground floor level (basement)
with student accommodation surrounding this void at seven levels.
8.17 In respect of the proposed design as originally submitted, the Conservation Officer
advised that the scale of the replacement building was appropriate to the location but
raised concern regarding the design in respect of the pastiche style which was
considered to lack the interest and distinctiveness of the Debenhams building and
compete with the adjacent listed bank undermining its setting and that the proposal
provided a visually weak frontage to the Drapery. The Conservation Officer requested
that the existing façade be retained to preserve the appearance of the street scene.
8.18 Following the Conservation Officer’s concerns, the design of the scheme has since
been amended to provide a stronger active frontage at ground floor level and amend
the overall design of both the Drapery and College Street elevations to provide a more
distinctive and interesting design that is considered sympathetic to the surrounding
context which is varied in character. No further comments have been received from
the Conservation Officer.
8.19 At ground floor level fronting the Drapery, a retail unit would be provided (which
contains further retail space at basement floor level). Adjacent to this retail unit would
be an office space and reception area for the student halls. The frontage facing
Drapery has been carefully designed to ensure an active frontage to the Drapery at
ground floor level is retained. Above the ground floor level fronting Drapery, a
contemporary design is proposed, with slightly projecting window frames and strong
pillars creating an attractive frontage with a strong rhythmic pattern which reflects and
compliments the existing varied pattern of development within the Drapery. The top
floor is set back from the main frontage to reduce the visual bulk of the proposed
building, and this top floor would not be overly visible from the Drapery or wider views
due to the existing street pattern and proximity of buildings.
8.20 To the rear of the building fronting College Street a slightly different design is proposed
however, the strong fenestration detail and clear lines remain to create a strong
elevation to this side. At ground floor level fronting College Street, a student lounge

Page 26

window is provided alongside two entrances into the building and bin store doors. It is
the case that the College Street elevation is not to the same design as the Drapery
elevation, however as existing the Debenhams building presents an unattractive
elevation with servicing grilles and office windows to College Street. It is considered
that the proposed elevation for College Street would be an improvement to the existing
building and would provide some active frontage with a large student lounge window
and two entrance points. As with the Drapery elevation, the top floor on the College
Street elevation is set back from the remainder of the building to reduce the bulk of the
building.
8.21 With regards to the Swan Yard elevation (south), the proposed development would be
an improvement over the existing building. As existing the Debenhams building
presents a relatively blank elevation to Swan Yard alleyway. The proposed
development would add space and active uses on the alleyway, with the opening up of
the central courtyard adding light to the alleyway, and with the insertion of a student
lounge and study space windows fronting Swan Yard at ground floor level.
Furthermore, at upper levels staircase windows and dual aspect student bedroom
windows offer natural surveillance and activity to Swan Yard. In design terms it is
considered that the proposed building would offer an improvement to Swan Yard.
8.22 With regards to the northern elevation, much of this would not be visible from the
Drapery or College Street elevations due to neighbouring buildings. Much of that which
is visible would appear similar to the existing building on site, with slight increases in
the depth of the top floor level and a slight lowering in height centrally. With the existing
relationship on site this elevation is considered acceptable in design terms.
8.23 Materials proposed include a mix of stone, buff facing brick, re-cast stone cladding and
light coloured metal cladding to the inset top floor level to the Drapery elevation and red
facing brick with buff brick detailing and light metal cladding to the top floor to the
College Street elevation. Specific material details would be agreed by condition to
ensure a high quality development is delivered.
Conclusion
8.24 As such and on balance, it is considered that the development proposal would result in
less than substantial harm to heritage assets and that the amended design and
appearance are acceptable and that the public benefits of the development outweigh
any harm identified.
Residential Amenity
8.25 The application proposes the provision of 201 studio student flats, 6 of these would be
accessible studios.
8.26 The Council does not have a policy regarding the minimum size requirements for
student accommodation. It is considered, however, that the room sizes proposed are
sufficient for the intended use, being of a similar size to other student accommodation
approved within Northampton and all rooms are provided with sufficient light and
outlook.
8.27 The proposal provides a shared amenity space at lower ground floor level and a shared
terrace space at roof level for the student occupiers, alongside a number of internal
shared spaces with study rooms, lounges, and gym/amenity spaces. In addition, the
site is located within the town centre and within walking distance of amenity space,

Page 27

such as Beckets Park and the River Nene. It is, therefore, considered that sufficient
amenity space is provided.
8.28 An enclosed refuse storage area is proposed for the student accommodation fronting
onto College Street with additional internal access within the complex. A separate
refuse storage area is proposed from Swan Yard for the retail unit. A condition is
proposed to ensure the refuse storage areas are provided prior to first occupation and
an additional condition requires the submission and approval of a Waste Management
and Pest Control Plan to ensure appropriate management of refuse storage and that
there is no adverse impact on surrounding amenity. Public Protection raise no
objection in this regard.
Impact on neighbouring amenity and surrounding uses
8.29 The application site is located within the town centre, and as such the majority of
neighbouring units are commercial in nature. There are, however, residential units at
first floor within some of the neighbouring units, such as within 27 Drapery to the south
of the site. Whilst the application site adds habitable room windows to all sides, it is not
considered that the outlook from these windows would result in an unacceptable
relationship for a town centre location, with sufficient distance retained between these
windows and neighbouring windows.
8.30 In respect of surrounding commercial uses, 3rd party comments have been received
raising concern regarding the potential impacts arising from the proposed development
in respect of the use of the Boston Clipper Public House situated to the rear of the site
at 26 College Street which has a license to hold late night DJ and live music events
until 6am.
8.31 Paragraph 187 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that new development can effectively
integrate with existing businesses, including pubs and music venues, and that these
existing businesses should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a
result of development permitted after they were established. Where the operation of an
existing business could have a significant adverse effect on new development in its
vicinity, the applicant (or ‘agent of change’) should be required to provide suitable
mitigation before the development is completed.
8.32 A Noise Assessment has been submitted with the application and assessed by Public
Protection. The submitted Noise Assessment does not include an assessment of or
reference to the Boston Public House which it is understood was not trading during the
Covid-19 lockdown period.
8.33 Public Protection has advised that there have been no noise nuisance/ public nuisance
incidents on record in respect of the Boston Public House since 2014. It is however
acknowledged that there is currently no particular concentration of residential uses
within the immediate vicinity of the venue.
8.34 The development proposal includes student accommodation with habitable room
windows facing towards College Street. In order to ensure appropriate levels of
amenity for proposed occupiers and that there are no unreasonable expectations
placed on existing businesses in the vicinity Public Protection has agreed to the
imposition of a condition for the submission of an updated noise impact assessment
assessing impacts out of any lockdown restrictions due to the Covid-19 pandemic and
including an assessment of the Boston Clipper Public House and mitigation measures
as necessary to be submitted to and approved in writing prior to commencement of

Page 28

development, with any approved mitigation measures to be in place prior to occupation
of the development and retained in full working condition thereafter.
8.35 It is therefore considered that any impacts arising from surrounding uses can be
sufficiently mitigated such that there is no unacceptable adverse impact on proposed
amenity or existing businesses within the area in accordance with policy requirements.
Highway Impact
8.36 The application site is located within the town centre and as such the nil provision of
parking spaces is considered acceptable.
8.37 The Council’s Highways department have been consulted on the proposal and have
raised no comment on the scheme.
8.38 The application proposes the provision of three bicycle stores with space for at least
210 bicycles. 201 cycle spaces would be expected for a development of this size and
as such more than sufficient storage is provided. The provision of bike storage as
proposed would be required by condition prior to occupation and retained thereafter.
Crime Prevention
8.39 The application site is currently in a location subject to occurrences of crime, largely
within the alleyway to the south (Swan Yard). Whilst it is accepted that this area is not
currently observed, the proposal would add windows overlooking this space, would
provide more light through the central courtyard void, and greater use of the space
which is likely to provide natural surveillance. In order to ensure the development is
safe, details of CCTV and lighting are required through condition.
8.40 The Police Crime Prevention Design Advisor requests a number of safety features to
ensure the development is secure by design. A condition will be attached requiring the
development to provide details of proposed measures for the prevention of crime and
to provide a secure development.
8.41 The Police Crime Prevention Design Advisor also requests further details on the
management of the block and a condition requiring these details will be attached.
Other matters
8.42 The Council’s Public Protection team have requested conditions on noise, a
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), demolition asbestos survey,
contamination, sound limits, glazing and ventilation, noise attenuation, waste, delivery
times and external lighting. These are considered reasonable to attach.
8.43 The Council’s Archaeology officer requests a condition on archaeological works, which
is considered reasonable to attach.
8.44 The Lead Local Flood Authority advise that there is no objection to the scheme subject
to conditions on surface water drainage. It is considered reasonable to attach such
conditions.
8.45 West Northamptonshire Council Key Services request conditions on fire hydrants and
broadband. There is no planning policy basis to require such conditions and as such
these are not considered reasonable to attach.

Page 29

Obligations
8.46 West Northamptonshire Council Key Services request a financial contribution towards
libraries. There is no planning policy basis in the Northampton Area for the requirement
of funds towards libraries and as such it is not reasonable for the Council to request
such funding for this development.
8.47 Construction Futures request a contribution towards apprentice training and a training
scheme on the site. This is considered reasonable to request through a S106
agreement.
8.48 The applicant has agreed to the above contribution and requirement.
9

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

9.1

The development is not CIL liable.

10

PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION

10.1 The proposed development represents an acceptable land use and would not have a
significant adverse impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area,
All Saints Conservation Area, neighbouring amenity, the highway system, or crime and
safety. Whilst the development will result in some harm to the historic environment with
the loss of the existing building, this harm is assessed as being less that substantial
and any harm would be outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme by ensuring a
long-term viable use for the site. As a consequence, the proposal is in conformity with
the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies C2, E1, H1, BN5,
BN9, INF1, INF2, N1, S1, S2, S3 and S10 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core
Strategy; and Polices 1, 11, 12, 13, 16 and 32 of the Northampton Central Area Action
Plan 2013.
10.2 It is therefore recommended that the application be approved subject to the following
conditions and subject to the completion of a S106 agreement.
11

RECOMMENDATION / CONDITIONS AND REASONS

11.1 The proposed development is recommended for approval subject to the following
conditions (and any amendments to those conditions as deemed necessary).
Time Limit
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years
from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
Approved Plans
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
plans:
20038_ex(--)01 – Location plan.
20038_pl(23)_01 Rev B – proposed lower ground floor plan.
20038_pl(23)_02 Rev D – proposed ground floor plan.
20038_pl(23)_03 Rev A – proposed 1st, 2nd and 3rd floor plans.

Page 30

20038_pl(23)_04 Rev A – proposed fourth floor plan.
20038_pl(23)_05 Rev A – proposed fifth floor plan.
20038_pl(27)_01 Rev A – proposed roof plan.
20038_pl(20)_01 Rev C – proposed east elevation – Drapery.
20038_pl(20)_02 Rev A – proposed west elevation – College Street.
20038_pl(20)_03 Rev C – proposed south elevation – Swan Yard.
20038_pl(20)04 Rev B – proposed north elevation.
20038_pl(21)01 Rev A – proposed building section AA
20038_pl(21)02 – proposed building section B-B
20038_pl(21)03 Rev A – proposed building section C-C
20038_pl(21)04 – proposed building section D-D
20038_pl(21)05 Rev A – proposed building section E-E
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to accord with the terms of the planning
application.
Demolition and contract for redevelopment
3.

The works of demolition hereby permitted shall not be carried out until details of the
contract entered into for the carrying out of the works of redevelopment of the site
hereby permitted (including a timetable for these works) has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to protect the character and appearance
of the Conservation Area in accordance with Policy BN5 of the West Northamptonshire
Joint Core Strategy.
Materials

4.

No development above lower ground floor base level shall take place until full samples
of all proposed external facing materials, including window frame/surround and
balustrade details, have been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the development will
harmonise with its surroundings in accordance with Policy BN5 of the West
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.
Construction Environmental Management Plan

5.

No development shall take place until a Construction Environmental Management Plan
(CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall than be carried out in accordance with the approved CEMP. The
CEMP shall include, though not necessarily be restricted to the following details:
i) A Traffic Management Plan incorporating the routing of construction traffic and details
of heavy vehicle movement patterns.
ii) Measures to minimise and control noise, vibration, dust and fumes during site
preparation works and construction, including vehicle reversing alarms (including Best
Practice Measures contained within Section 6 of the submitted Dust Impact
Assessment undertaken by Accon UK Limited, dated 1st October 2020, Report Ref:
A/3391/CMP/01).
iii) Details of the siting of all vehicles of site operatives and visitors.
iv) The unloading and loading arrangements for heavy plant and machinery.
v) The location, extent and duration of any temporary stockpiling areas.

Page 31

vi) Measures to prevent mud being deposited on the surrounding highway.
vii) Hours in which development will take place.
Reason: To minimise the impact of the development during the construction phase in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. This is a precommencement condition to enable timely submission of information.
Finished floor levels
6. No development shall take place until details of the existing and proposed ground levels
and finished floor levels of the development have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of residential and visual amenity in accordance with Policy H1
of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy. This is a pre-commencement
condition to ensure timely submission of details.
Contamination
7. No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment to assess
the nature and extent of any contamination of the site has been completed, in
accordance with a scheme that has been first submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The investigation and risk assessment must be
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be
produced which must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management
procedures. The report of the findings must include:
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:
• human health,
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, pets, and service lines and pipes,
• adjoining land,
• groundwaters and surface waters,
• ecological systems,
• archaeological sites and ancient monuments;
(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s
‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’.
Reason: Pre commencement condition to ensure the effective investigation and
remediation of contaminated land sites and in the interests of health and safety and the
quality of the environment in accordance with paragraph 170 of the NPPF and Policy
BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.
8. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a detailed
remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by
removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, and other property and the
natural and historical environment shall be prepared and submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of
works and site management procedures and shall ensure that the site will not qualify
as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in
relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.

Page 32

Reason: Pre commencement condition to ensure the effective investigation and
remediation of contaminated land sites and in the interests of health and safety and the
quality of the environment in accordance with paragraph 170 of the NPPF and Policy
BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.
9. The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms
prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry out
remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of
commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out
must be produced and shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the effective investigation and remediation of contaminated land
sites and in the interests of health and safety and the quality of the environment in
accordance with paragraph 170 of the NPPF and Policy BN9 of the West
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.
10. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must
be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of Condition 7 above, and where
remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with
the requirements of Condition 8 above, which is subject to the approval in writing of the
Local Planning Authority.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a
verification report must be prepared, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority in accordance with Condition 8.
Reason: To ensure the effective investigation and remediation of contaminated land
sites and in the interests of health and safety and the quality of the environment in
accordance with paragraph 170 of the NPPF and Policy BN9 of the West
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.
Secure By Design
11.Prior to any works above lower ground floor slab level, a scheme providing details of
the measures to be incorporated into the development demonstrating how the
principles and practices of ‘Secured by Design’ have been included shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the agreed details.
Reason: In the interests of securing a satisfactory standard of development in
accordance with the requirements of Policy S10 of the West Northamptonshire Joint
Core Strategy.
Archaeology
12. No development shall take place until a programme of archaeological work in
accordance with a written scheme of investigation has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The written scheme will include the following
components, completion of each which will trigger the phased discharging of the
conditions:

Page 33

(i) Approval of a Written Scheme of Investigation;
(ii) Fieldwork in accordance with the agreed written scheme of investigation;
(iii) Completion of a Post-excavation assessment report and approval of an approved
Updated Project Design (to be submitted within 6 months of the completion of fieldwork
unless otherwise agreed in advance with the planning authority);
(iv) Completion of post-excavation analysis, preparation of site archive ready for
deposition at a store (Northamptonshire ARC) approved by the local planning authority,
completion of an archive report and submission of a publication report to be completed
within two years of the completion of fieldwork unless otherwise agreed in advance by
the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and
recorded in accordance with the NPPF paragraph 199. This is a pre-commencement
condition to ensure timely submission of details.
Surface Water Drainage
13. Prior to any above ground works commencing full details of the surface water
drainage scheme for the site, based on the approved Report for Foul and Storm Water
Drainage Strategy for a Residential and Commercial Development at 33 - 39 Drapery,
Northampton rev C ref 81892-01 dated 25th March 2021 prepared by PRK UK Ltd,
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details
before the development is completed. The scheme shall include:
a) details (i.e. designs, diameters, invert and cover levels, gradients, dimensions and
so on) of all elements of the proposed drainage system, to include pipes, inspection
chambers, outfalls/inlets and attenuation structures (if required)
b) Appropriately cross-referenced supporting calculations demonstrating that there is
no surcharge in the system for the 1 in 1 year, no above ground flooding for the 1 in 30
year, and that any above-ground flooding for 1 in 200 year plus 40% climate change
storm is limited to areas designated and safe to flood, away from sensitive
infrastructure or buildings.
c) Full details of the surface water pumping station
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, both on and off site, by ensuring the
satisfactory means of surface water attenuation and discharge from the site in
accordance with the NPPF and Policy BN7 of the Core Strategy for West
Northamptonshire.
14. No development shall take place until a detailed scheme for the maintenance and
upkeep of every element of the surface water drainage system proposed on the site
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the
maintenance plan shall be carried out in full thereafter. This scheme shall include
details of any drainage elements that will require replacement within the lifetime of the
proposed development.
Reason: In order to ensure that the drainage systems associated with the development
will be maintained appropriately and in perpetuity, to reduce the risk of flooding due to
failure of the drainage system in accordance with the aims of the NPPF
15. No Occupation shall take place until a Verification Report for the installed surface
water drainage system for the site based on the Report for Foul and Storm Water
Drainage Strategy for a Residential and Commercial Development at 33 - 39 Drapery,
Northampton rev C ref 81892-01 dated 25th March 2021 prepared by PRK UK Ltd has

Page 34

been submitted in writing by a suitably qualified independent drainage engineer and
approved by the Local Planning Authority The details shall include:
a) Any departure from the agreed design is keeping with the approved principles
b) Any As-Built Drawings and accompanying photos
c) Results of any Performance testing undertaken as a part of the application process
(if required / necessary)
d) Copies of any Statutory Approvals, such as Land Drainage Consent for Discharges
etc.
e) CCTV confirmation that the system is free from defects, damage and foreign objects.
Reason: To ensure the installed Surface Water Drainage System is satisfactory and in
accordance with the approved reports for the development site and in accordance with
the aims of the NPPF.
Noise
16. Prior to the commencement of development, the submitted Acoustic Report
undertaken by Swenco UK Ltd dated 21st December 2020 reference 65201962ACO.REP1 shall be updated to include an assessment of the noise impact out of any
lockdown restrictions due to the Covid-19 Pandemic and shall include an assessment
of the Boston Clipper Public House (26 College Street) and this shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any mitigation measures
approved therein shall be implemented in full prior to first occupation of the student
rooms hereby permitted and thereafter retained in a fully working condition.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with Policy BN9 of the
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy. This condition is required precommencement to ensure that such details are agreed in a timely manner.
17. Prior to any works above lower ground floor slab level a noise attenuation scheme
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall include full details and specifications of the façade, windows, glazing,
ventilation, internal floors, and internal walls. Any proposed mitigation measures must
ensure that the internal noise climate for each dwelling achieves the recommended
internal ambient noise levels outlined in paragraph 7.7.2 and Table 4 of BS8233:2014
and external noise climate for outdoor spaces outlined in paragraph 7.7.3.2 of
BS8233:2014. No student room shall be occupied until the approved noise attenuation
scheme, and mitigation measures for noise attenuation and overheating, have been
implemented in full for that room. The approved noise attenuation scheme, and
mitigation measures for noise attenuation and overheating, shall subsequently be
maintained in perpetuity in full working condition.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with Policy BN9 of the
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.
Asbestos
18. Prior to the commencement of development a demolition asbestos survey shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority including details of
how and when any asbestos containing materials will be removed from the site. The
submitted survey shall be fully intrusive and comply with the Control of Asbestos
Regulations 2012. Development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved
details.

Page 35

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with Policy BN9 of the
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy. This condition is required precommencement to ensure that such details are agreed in a timely manner.
Site Management Plan
19. Prior to any works above lower ground floor level, a Full Site Management Plan for the
student accommodation shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Full Site Management shall include, but not be limited to, the
following:
i) The process for managing students to move into, and out of, the development.
ii) On site management.
iii) A Code of Conduct for occupiers of the development.
iv) Security Controls, including positions of access control measures door by door and
security rated doors and windows.
v) CCTV, including the location of each camera.
vi) External lighting.
vii) Fire alarm system, including the location of each alarm.
viii) Post box locations.
The approved management plan shall be fully implemented prior to the first occupation
of the development and shall be retained thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of securing a satisfactory standard of development in
accordance with the requirements of Policy S10 of the West Northamptonshire Joint
Core Strategy.
Lighting
20. Prior to first occupation, full details of any external lighting shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation and retained thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of residential and visual amenity in accordance with Policy H1
of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.
Boundary Treatment
21. Prior to first occupation of the development, details of all boundary materials (including
materials, design, and access control of any gates) shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be implemented
on site prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted and retained in full
working order in accordance with the approved details thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the development will
harmonise with its surroundings in accordance with Policy BN5 of the West
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.
Hard & Soft Landscaping
22. Prior to first occupation of the development a detailed scheme of hard and soft
landscaping shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall
be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the
building or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner, and which shall

Page 36

be maintained for a period of five years; such maintenance to include the replacement
in the current or nearest planting season whichever is the sooner or shrubs that may
die are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased with others of similar size
and species.
Any approved hard landscaping shall be carried out prior to first occupation.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and to secure a satisfactory standard of
development in accordance with Policy S10 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core
Strategy.
Waste Management
23. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted a Waste Management
Plan and Pest Control Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall include but not be limited to
• a management plan for collection of refuse from the bin stores and arrangements for
moving the bins in and out before and after collection; and
• a management plan for cleaning and maintaining the bin stores
The approve details shall be fully implemented prior to the first occupation of any part
of the development hereby permitted and retained thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of creating a sustainable form of development, in accordance
with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.
Cycle Storage
24. Prior to first occupation of the student development hereby approved, the secure
student cycle storage, as shown on plans 20038_pl(23)_01 Rev B and
20038_pl(23)_02 Rev D, and broxap BX/MW/HI-RISE two tier cycle storage solution
brochure shall be provided on site and retained for the parking of bicycles by the
occupants of the student flats thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of promoting sustainable travel in accordance with the
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework
Refuse Storage
25. The commercial and student bin stores as shown within plan 20038_pl(23)_02 Rev D
shall be provided on site prior to the first occupation of the development hereby
approved and retained at all times thereafter for bin storage.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with Policy S10 of the
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.
Accommodation Limit
26. The residential student development hereby permitted shall be a 201 bed student
accommodation (sui generis use) only and shall not be used for any other purpose.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to secure a satisfactory standard of
development in accordance with the requirements of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
Deliveries

Page 37

27. No deliveries shall occur to the retail unit hereby permitted between the hours of
18:00pm and 08:00am. Mondays – Saturdays and there shall be no deliveries at any
time on Sundays.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not prejudice the amenities of
residential occupiers in the vicinity of the development.
Use of Gym
28. For the avoidance of doubt the gym amenity space as shown within plan
20038_pl(23)_01 Rev B shall be for use by the occupiers of the student hall only and
shall not be open to members of the public.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not prejudice the amenities of
residential occupiers in the development in accordance with the requirements of Policy
S10 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.

Page 38

Page 39

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8b

Planning Committee Report
Committee Date:

5th October 2021

Application Number:

N/2021/0031

Location:

35 Hood Street, Northampton

Development:

Change of use from 4 occupants House in multiple
occupation to a 5 occupants House in multiple occupation.

Applicant:

LG Properties (Northampton) Limited

Agent:

Alex Jelley

Case Officer:

Kanchan Sharma

Ward:

Castle Unitary Ward

Referred By: Councillor D Stone
Reason for Referral: Overdevelopment, pressure on parking and services

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS AND RECOMMENDATION
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS.
Proposal
Permission is sought for a change of use from 4 occupants House in multiple occupation
(HIMO) to a 5 occupants House in multiple occupation. Parking would be on-street.
Consultations
The following consultees have raised objections to the application:



Councillor D Stone
Colwyn Road & Neighbours Resident Association

The following consultees have raised no objections to the application:



Highways
Conservation Officer

The following consultees are in support of the application:


Private Sector Housing

Page 41

6 objections received.
Conclusion
The application has been assessed against the relevant policies in the NPPF, the adopted
Local Plan and other relevant guidance as listed in detail at Section 8 of the report.
The key issues arising from the application details are:
 Principle of Development
 Concentration
 Amenity
 Highways/ Parking
 Impact on heritage assets
The report looks into the key planning issues in detail, and Officers conclude that the
proposal is acceptable subject to conditions.
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment and recommendations, and
Members are advised that this summary should be read in conjunction with the
detailed report.

MAIN REPORT

1.

APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY

1.1

The application site comprises a two storey, mid-terraced, 4 bedroom property with
additional floor space at first floor level where it extends above an existing access
way. The property has a kitchen, lounge, dining area, and utility on the ground floor,
and 4 bedrooms and 2 bathrooms on the first floor.

1.2

The property is located in a residential area with predominantly terraced properties
in the immediate area and is in close proximity to Kettering Road, which has a
parade of retail and commercial units and bus routes serving the wider area.

1.3

The application site is located within the designated Boot and Shoe Quarter
Conservation Area and lies within Flood Zone 1, which means very low risk of
flooding.

2.

CONSTRAINTS

2.1. Boot and Shoe Quarter Conservation Area

3.
3.1.

4.

DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
Permission is sought for a change of use to increase the number of occupants of the
HIMO from 4 to 5.
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1. The following planning history is considered relevant to the current proposal:

Page 42

Application Ref.

Proposal

Decision

N/2019/0680

Proposed change of use from dwelling (Use Approved
Class C3) to house in multiple occupation by Planning
(Use Class C4) for 4 occupants.
Committee
on
3rd
September
2019.

5. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE
Statutory Duty
5.1. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
Development Plan
5.2. The Development Plan comprises the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy
Local Plan (Part 1) which was formally adopted by the Joint Strategic Planning
Committee on 15th December 2014 and which provides the strategic planning policy
framework for the District to 2029, the adopted Local Plan (Part 1) and adopted
Neighbourhood Plans.
5.3. Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
requires Local Planning Authorities when considering development to pay special
attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a
conservation area.
5.4. The relevant planning policies of the statutory Development Plan are set out below:
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) (LPP1)
5.5. The relevant polices of the LPP1 are:





5.6

H1 – Housing Density & Mix & type of Dwellings
H5 – Managing the Existing Housing Stock
S10 – Sustainable Development Principles
BN5 – Designated Heritage Assets and their setting
BN7 – Flood Risk

Northampton Local Plan 1997 (Saved Policies)
E20 – New development
E26 – Development in Conservation area
H30 - Multi occupation within a single dwelling
Material Considerations

5.7

Below is a list of the relevant Material Planning Considerations


National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Page 43

Paragraphs 62 – size, type and tenure of housing need for different
groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning
policies.
o Paragraph 130 (f) - seeks to create safe and healthy places with a high
standard of amenity for existing and future users.
o Paragraph 199 - Great weight to be given to the conservation of heritage
assets.
Boot and Shoe Quarter Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan
Northamptonshire County Parking Standards 2016
Northampton Parking Standards 2019
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HIMO) Supplementary Planning Document
(November 2019). The HiMO SPD details that proposal for HiMOs should:
o Result in a balanced and mixed community and protect the physical
character of the street and neighbourhood as a whole, by not resulting in
a concentration of similar uses, a material change or adverse impact on
the character of the area, or more than 10% of HIMOs within a 50 metre
radius.
o Secure the provision of adequate facilities and amenities
o Provide adequate waste and recycling facilities and sufficient refuse
storage
o Minimise flood risk
o Secure provision of adequate parking
o Provide adequate secure cycle storage in accordance with relevant
parking standards documents and SPDs.
o






6.

RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION
Below is a summary of the consultation responses received at the time of writing this
report. Responses are available to view in full on the Council’s website.
Consultee Name

Comment

Councillor
D
Stone
Private
Sector
Housing

Calls the application to Committee raising objections in respect of
overdevelopment, pressure on parking and services.
Advise that the applicant will require licensing under the
mandatory licensing scheme. The property is suitable for the 5
people in 5 households and the amenities and facilities are
adequate.
Highways
Due to the known pressure in the area for on-street parking and
the expectation that the change of use could result in an
increased level of parking demand on-street immediate to the
site, especially after 6pm in an already congested area, advise an
on-street car parking beat survey. Because of the ongoing
coronavirus situation however, we cannot accept transport data
for the time being. As a result, the LHA cannot make informed
comments regarding the highway impact of this application.
Therefore, the potential effect on local amenity should be
considered.
Conservation
No objection to the increase in the number of occupiers from four
Officer
to five. The increase in the number of occupants will not harm the
character or appearance of the conservation area
Colwyn road & Object to the application on the grounds of overdevelopment.
Neighbours
Overcrowding, inadequate shared space, tenant noise, volume
Resident
of refuse ad parking issues. The property is already occupied as
Association
HIMO and local residents have issues from its occupants.

Page 44

7.

RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY
7.1. Below is a summary of the third party and neighbour responses received at the
time of writing this report.
7.2. 6 objections have been received and the comments are summarised as follows:







8.

Loss of family home.
Parking issues in the area
Over concentration of HIMOs in the area
Infrastructure of the area cannot support the increased number of HIMOs
Anti-social behaviour
Refuse storage issues and fly tipping

APPRAISAL
Principle of the development

8.1. The property is an existing HIMO with 4 occupants and therefore the principle of the
use is established. The primary consideration, therefore, is whether the proposed
internal layout would provide a satisfactory standard of accommodation for the
increased number of occupiers, and whether the proposed increase in occupants
would harm the amenities of the surrounding properties and highway safety.
Area concentration
8.2. As the property has planning permission as an HIMO, the area concentration is not a
material consideration.
Size of property and facilities for future occupiers
8.3. Policy H30 of the Local Plan, although dated, is in line with the aims of NPPF in respect
of the provision of adequate amenity for proposed occupiers and requires HIMOs to be
of sufficient size to accommodate the proposed use. The property is considered to be
of sufficient size, providing room sizes in accordance with the Council’s HIMO
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and appropriate kitchen, WC and wash
facilities. A condition restricting the use of the property to a maximum of 5 people
would ensure over-development does not occur. All bedrooms would be served by
adequate outlook and light. The application property has a basement and a condition
has been recommended to ensure that it would not be used as a habitable room.
Flood Risk
8.4. The site lies in a low risk Flood Zone (Zone 1) where there is limited risk from flooding.
Highways / Parking
8.5. The Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD sets out clearly that where limited or no
parking provision is proposed, the site must provide a parking beat survey. Should a
parking beat survey reveal that there is insufficient on-street parking capacity, the
application site should be within 400m of a bus stop with at least one bus every 30
minutes between 0700 and 1900 Mondays to Sundays, and be located within 400m of
facilities and services contained in a town centre, district centre, local centre or
neighbourhood parade. Only outside such locations is parking required to be provided.

Page 45

8.6. No parking beat survey was submitted with the application, however, the applicant did
provide a Sustainability Statement. It is considered that the application site is in a
sustainable location within 400 metres of bus stop with buses stopping, on average,
every 30 minutes. The site is also located within 200m of the nearest bus stop on
Kettering Road with a regular service to the surrounding area. In this regard, the
proposal is considered to be in accordance with the requirements of the SPD in respect
of parking considerations. It also complies with Principle 5 of the Parking Standards
SPD (2019).
8.7. Within such areas, the SPD recommends that storage space should be provided which
is accessible to cycle users. Full details have been submitted for cycle storage located
to the rear of the property, which would be secured by condition. The proposal is,
therefore, in compliance with this principle of the SPD.
8.8. A further consideration in respect of parking is the Northamptonshire Parking
Standards, which states that HIMOs shall provide on plot parking at the ratio of one
parking space per bedroom. The proposed development would produce a demand for
5 parking spaces which is an increase of 1 compared to the approved use for 4
occupants.
8.9. Whilst the proposal represents a slight increase in parking demand compared to the
existing use, there is no evidence to support that all the residents would own cars.
Furthermore, regard must paid to recent appeal decisions where Planning Inspectors
have consistently taken the view that where a site is close to local amenities and public
transport, and no parking is provided, considerable weight has been given to the
sustainable location of the site, and the appeals concerned have been allowed.
Indeed, some Inspectors have taken the view that proposed occupiers in recognising
the lack of parking provision and proximity to amenities, may choose the location for
this purpose and not wish to have cars.
8.10. In view of the recent appeal decisions, and the weight the Inspectors have given to the
sustainability of locations, and having regard to the sustainable location of the
application site, the number of occupants proposed, and that there is sufficient room
within the site to provide secure bicycle storage, in accordance with the requirements
of the HIMO SPD and the Parking SPD, it is not considered that a refusal on highway
grounds could be upheld at appeal.
Refuse storage
8.11. Details have been submitted for refuse storage in the rear amenity space, which are
deemed acceptable. A condition has been recommended to secure the arrangement
and provision as proposed.
Amenity
8.12. The proposed use falls within Use Class C4, which in effect categorises this as a
residential use. There is no evidence to demonstrate that the proposal would generate
adverse amenity impacts such as noise or anti-social behaviour over and above those
created by a more conventional C3 dwelling. Consequently, it is not considered that a
refusal of planning permission in relation to amenity issues would be reasonable or
sustainable at appeal.
Impact on Heritage Assets

Page 46

8.13. The property falls within the designated Boot and Shoe Quarter Conservation Area.
The proposed development for a change of use would not include any external
alterations. The Conservation Officer has not raised any objection and states that the
proposal would have a neutral impact on the character of the Conservation Area and is
considered acceptable.

9.
9.1.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS
The development is not CIL liable.

10. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION
10.1. The proposed development would not lead to an unacceptable concentration of HIMOs
within the locality that would adversely affect the character of the local area, street
scene, nor would the development have significant adverse impacts on neighbouring
amenity or parking provision. The property is of sufficient size to accommodate the
level of accommodation as proposed.
10.2. The proposed development would be in accordance with the aims and objectives of the
National Planning Policy Framework, Policies H1, H5, BN5, BN7 and S10 of the West
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy, saved Policies E20, E26 and H30 of the
Northampton Local Plan and the Council’s Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD.

11. RECOMMENDATION / CONDITIONS AND REASONS
11.1. The proposed development is recommended for approval subject to the conditions
listed below (and any amendments to those conditions as deemed necessary):
Time Limit
1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.
Plans
2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans: ASM_20_L15_02.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to accord with the terms of the
planning application.
Occupancy
3) The maximum number of occupiers shall not exceed 5 at any one time.
Reason: In order to prevent over-development to accord with Policy H5 of the
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and H30 of the Northampton
Local Plan.
Refuse Storage

Page 47

4) Facilities for the refuse and recycling storage as shown on drawing no.
ASM_20_L15_02 shall be implemented prior to the increased use hereby
permitted commencing and retained thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and to secure a satisfactory standard of
development in accordance with Policy S10 of the Joint Core Strategy and
E20 of the Northampton Local Plan.
Cycle Storage
5) Facilities for the secure and covered parking of bicycles as shown on drawing
no. ASM_20_L15_02 shall be implemented prior to the increased use hereby
permitted commencing and retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate facilities in accordance with
Policy S10 of the Joint Core Strategy and E20 of the Northampton Local Plan.
Use of Basement
6) The basement room shall be used as storage room only and shall be
maintained as such for the duration of the use hereby permitted and shall not
be used as a bedroom at any time.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity to comply with Policy H1 of the
Joint Core Strategy.

Page 48

Page 49

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8c

Planning Committee Report
Committee Date:

5th October 2021

Application Number:

WNN/2021/0287 & WNN/2021/0288

Location:

Mr Grants House, 10 St Giles Square, Northampton

Development:

WNN/2021/0287 - Change of Use from restaurant (Use
Class E) to Mixed Use Drinking Establishment (Sui Generis)
and Retail (Use Class E), to include placing of tables,
chairs, parasols and planters within curtilage of site.
WNN/2021/0288 - Listed Building Consent Application for
Change of Use from restaurant (Use Class E) to Mixed Use
Drinking Establishment (Sui Generis) and Retail (Use Class
E), to include placing of tables, chairs, parasols and
planters within curtilage of site.

Applicant:

V&B

Agent:

UK Surveyors Ltd

Case Officer:

Andrew Holden

Ward:

Castle Unitary Ward

Called in By:

Councillor D Stone

Reason for Referral: Impact on amenity and surrounding uses

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS AND RECOMMENDATION
RECOMMENDATION:
WNN/2021/0287 (Planning) GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS
WNN/2021/0288 (Listed Building) GRANT LISTED BUILDING CONSENT SUBJECT TO
CONDITIONS
Proposal
The proposed development comprises the change of use of the two buildings from the
current restaurant use to a mixed use of drinking establishment and retail sales, principally of
wine and beer.
An application for planning permission and listed building consent have been submitted in
respect of the proposals.
Consultations

Page 51

The following consultees have raised objections to the application:
 Councillor Danielle Stone
The following consultees have raised no objections to the application:
 Licensing, Conservation, Historic England, Town Centre Conservation Area Advisory
Committee, Environmental Health,
One letter of objection has been received.
Conclusion
The application has been assessed against the relevant policies in the NPPF, the adopted
Local Plan and other relevant guidance as listed in detail at Section 8 of the report.
The key issues arising from the application details are:
 Principle of Development
 Impact on the character of the area, including the Conservation Area.
 Impact on the host listed building and the setting of other nearby listed buildings.
 Parking and Highway Implications.
The report looks into the key planning issues in detail, and Officers conclude that the
proposal is acceptable subject to conditions.
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment and recommendations, and
Members are advised that this summary should be read in conjunction with the
detailed report.

MAIN REPORT

1.

APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY

1.1

The application site consists of two adjacent buildings in the town centre of
Northampton, one of which is Grade II listed, as well as the area of paving to the front
of these two buildings, which does not form part of the public highway.

2.

CONSTRAINTS

2.1. The application site is within All Saints Conservation Area, includes a Grade 11 listed
building, is adjacent to two Grade II listed telephone kiosks and is opposite the Grade
II* listed Guildhall.

3.

DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

3.1. The proposed development comprises the change of use of the two buildings from the
current restaurant use to a mixed use of drinking establishment and retail, the retail
element to essentially be “off-sales” of wine and beer, in addition to the placing of
tables, chairs, parasols and planters on the area to the front of the buildings. This area
is not part of the highway and historically was occupied by buildings.

4.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1. The following planning history is considered relevant to the current proposal:

Page 52

Application Ref.

Proposal

Decision

N/1990/249

Demolition Of Single Storey Shops
Conversion To A Visitors Centre
Change Of Use And Refurbishment Of
Existing Building Into Restaurant
Change Of Use From Restaurant (Class A3)
To Offices (Class B1) And Financial
Services (Class A2)

APPROVED
18/07/1990
APPROVED
11/12/2002
APPROVED
21/01/2004

N/2002/1431
N/2003/1611

5. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE
Statutory Duty
5.1. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
Development Plan
5.2. The Development Plan comprises the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy
Local Plan (Part 1) which was formally adopted by the Joint Strategic Planning
Committee on 15th December 2014 and which provides the strategic planning policy
framework for the District to 2029, and the adopted Central Area Action Plan. The
relevant planning policies of the statutory Development Plan are set out below:
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) (LPP1)
5.3. The relevant polices of the LPP1 are:




SA – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
S10 – Sustainable Development Principles
BN5 – The Historic Environment and Landscape

Central Area Action Plan
5.4. The relevant policies of the CAAP are :


Policy 1 – Promoting Design Excellence

Material Considerations
5.5. Below is a list of the relevant Material Planning Considerations


6.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION
Below is a summary of the consultation responses received at the time of writing this
report. Responses are available to view in full on the Council’s website. At the time of
writing this report consultation on the amended plans is ongoing, any further comments
received will be reported to Committee by means of the Addendum.
Planning Application WNN/2021/0287

Page 53

Consultee Name

Comment

Licensing

No objections (following confirmation the proposal did not
include use of the highway).
Conservation
No objection to the proposal as a means of securing a use for
an important listed building within the town centre. The building
was last used as a restaurant and the proposed use will have an
acceptable impact on the character of the listed building and this
part of All Saints Conservation Area. The proposed installation
of seating and planters on the forecourt will have a limited and
reversible impact on the setting of the building and conservation
area.
(Amended plans) The reduction in the outdoor seating area will,
however, better preserve views of the listed building from within
the conservation areas, although listed building consent is not
actually required for the outdoor seating
Historic England
No Comments
Town
Centre (Original Plans) Pleased to see proposals for this important
Conservation
listed building to be brought back into use, however concerned
Area
Advisory about the intensity of outside furniture and whether it could be
Committee
accommodated within the curtilage of the premises. Over
proliferation of furniture could increase visual clutter, having a
negative impact on the building itself, the setting of the Grade II*
listed Guildhall and the Conservation Area.
(Amended Plans) The reduction in the amount of external
furniture is an improvement which will reduce the negative
impact on the Conservation Area. It was also suggested that
including the name “Mr Grant’s House” into the name of the
drinking establishment would be an excellent way of recognising
a part of the building’s past.
Public Protection Noise should be controlled by a condition, external seating
should be removed between the hours of 23:00 and 8:00am,
hours of opening should be conditioned, bottling out should be
restricted, no amplified sound to be played outdoors.
(Amended Plans) Environmental Protection note the reduction in
external drinking areas which is encouraged. Our comments
regarding external areas and use during the hours of 23:00pm
through to 08:00am area still relevant to the application. Use of
these areas through the hours shown should be restricted by
condition to ensure the amenity of the surrounding wider
residential area is protected during the night-time period.
Request noise assessment in respect of new/ relocated plant,
structures or noise emitting buildings.
Highways
(Original Plans) Need to ensure there is no encroachment onto
the highway.
Comments on amended plans which show all furniture well clear
of the highway, are awaited).
Listed Building Consent Application WNN/2021/0288
Consultee Name

Comment

Conservation

No objection. No alterations are indicated to the exterior of the
building. The interior has previously been extensively altered and
the submitted details indicate that minimal further alterations are
proposed and any impact would be reversible. Signs to be fixed to

Page 54

the building will require separate consent.
The overall level of harm to the building would be “less than
substantial” and justified by the wider benefit of bringing the
building into use.
(Amended plans) The reduction in the outdoor seating area will,
however, better preserve views of the listed building from within
the conservation areas, although listed building consent is not
actually required for the outdoor seating
Historic England
No Comments
Town
Centre (Original Plans) Pleased to see proposals for this important listed
Conservation
building to be brought back into use, however concerned about
Area
Advisory the intensity of outside furniture and whether it could be
Committee
accommodated within the curtilage of the premises. Over
proliferation of furniture could increase visual clutter, having a
negative impact on the building itself, the setting of the Grade II*
listed Guildhall and the Conservation Area.
(Amended Plans) The reduction in the amount of external
furniture is an improvement which will reduce the negative impact
on the Conservation Area. It was also suggested that including
the name “Mr Grant’s House” into the name of the drinking
establishment would be an excellent way of recognising a part of
the building’s past.
Councillor
Please call this in. It is inappropriate for a site in the cultural
Danielle Stone
quarter, opposite the Guildhall, and where weddings take place.
The use of the outside area will limit other activities, eg. The
installation of the annual Xmas tree and lights. [Northampton in]
Bloom. The proposal will make that corner very busy and very
unattractive with the proposed mix of furniture and styles.
Because it is a street facing area and a busy thorough fare it is
inappropriate for on street drinking and smoking. This is an area
where we expect to see lots of school parties going to the
museum and the theatre. Adults drinking all day and all evening is
not a pretty sight and not roles models we would want to put in
front of children.

7.

RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY
Below is a summary of the third party and neighbour responses received at the time of
writing this report.

7.1. There has been one objection from a neighbouring premises raising the following
comments:





Noise and disturbance- We already have excess amounts of noise from the
Old Bank public house and adding another drinking establishment would only
heighten that noise issue. We have a lot of families and older people who visit
and having to walk past an outside drinking establishment could put a lot of
people off visiting us.
Deliveries/Fire exit- Deliveries to the pub are a constant issue let alone the
issue of another property using the alleyway for deliveries too.
Highway safety- The public use the area highlighted for the proposed tables
and chairs to be sited as a footpath to walk down Guildhall Road. If the area
highlighted was to be used for the proposed tables/chairs etc this would mean
that the public would be pushed into a smaller area.

Page 55



8.

Violence - The existing pub garden has issues with Anti-social behaviour.
Adding another drinking establishment would only exasperate those problems.

APPRAISAL
Principle of Development

8.1. In respect of the principle of the proposed change of use, it can be noted that the two
uses proposed, namely a drinking establishment and a retail use, are appropriate town
centre uses. The retail element entails only the sale of wine and beer, similar to “offsales” from any drinking establishment. It can also be noted that the lawful use as a
restaurant allows for sales of alcohol and the current proposal would involve some
sales of food, therefore there is limited difference between the two uses. The proposal
would also bring the listed building back into use, the building having been empty since
the closure of Ask in 2020. As such it is considered that the proposed change is
acceptable in principle.
Impact on the character of the area, including the Conservation Area, and on the host
listed building and the setting of other nearby listed buildings.
8.2. The original proposal including a large number of seats, benches, parasols and
planters, which would have filled much of the area to the front of the buildings (in total
there were to be 13 tables, 42 chairs, 9 folding picnic bench sets, 4 parasols and 15
timber planters). It was considered that this would have created too much visual
“clutter” and as such amendments were requested, which have now significantly
reduced the number of seats to little more than were in place for the previous
restaurant use, and in a much smaller area, to the front of the main building. (There
would now be 34 chairs, 11 tables, 3 parasols and 10 planters, whereas the previous
restaurant had 16 chairs and 8 tables). It is considered, therefore, that the character of
the area and the setting of lithe listed buildings would not be significantly affected in
visual terms.
8.3. Whist some concerns have been raised as to the visual impact of outdoor drinking,
again given the reduction in the scale of the seating, it is not considered that this would
lead to a significant impact.
8.4. Following concerns that the use would prevent the traditional placing of a Christmas
tree in this area, the reduction in the level of seating now means that this would now be
possible. It can be noted that although this is an application made on behalf of the
business proposing to occupy the site, the land is Council owned and therefore there is
further control available over this aspect, outside the planning system.
8.5. In respect of the application for Listed Building Consent, the proposals indicate minimal
internal works with no structural changes, and comments from the Conservation Officer
indicate no objections to these, in respect of the impact on the character and historical
significance of the building.
Impact on the amenities of neighbouring residents and businesses
8.6. The proposed use has the potential to lead to some impact on neighbouring residents,
although there are no residential properties in the immediate area. Following the
reduction in scale of the proposed outdoor seating area it is considered that this would
not be significant, and could be controlled by conditions as suggested by Public
Protection.

Page 56

8.7. Concerns have been raised also that the use of the area for outdoor drinking could
create a poor impression and may deter visitors to the area and nearby businesses and
other premises. Given the now reduced scale this would be less of a concern. In
respect of the comment that the use of the land would restrict space for pedestrians, it
should be noted that this land is not public highway and in theory could be enclosed
and public access denied, without the need for planning permission.
8.8. In respect of Public Protections request for a noise assessment, the proposal does not
include details of new or relocated plant, new structures or noise emitting buildings
which in any event would require a separate planning and listed building application
and could be assessed accordingly as part of these applications.
Parking and Highway Implications
8.9. No on site parking is available, however as the site is within the town centre this is not
required. As mentioned above, the proposed works are outside the public highway.

9.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

9.1. CIL is not payable.

10. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION
10.1. The proposed change of use and associated positioning of a small amount of external
seating would have no adverse impact on the character of the area, the setting of any
listed building, or the amenities of neighbouring and nearby residents and businesses.
The associated application for listed building consent would not affect the character or
historic interest of the listed building.
10.2. The proposals comply with Saved Policy 1 of the Central Area Action Plan, Policies
S10 and BN5 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

11. RECOMMENDATION / CONDITIONS AND REASONS
11.1. Planning Application WNN/2021/0287 is recommended for approval subject to
the following conditions (and any amendments to those conditions as deemed
necessary):
Time Limit
1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
Plans
2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans: 004377B External Seating Plan and Floor Plans
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to accord with the terms of the planning
application. listed building consent application
Removal of Seating and Tables

Page 57

3) All external seating and tables shall be removed from the outdoor area between the
hours of 23:00pm and 08:00am and stored securely.
Reason: To protect the amenities of nearby occupants and for the prevention of
crime and disorder, in accordance with Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire
Joint Core Strategy.
Opening Hours
4) The premises shall be open only between the hours of 09:00 and 24:00 on any day.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties in
accordance with Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.
Bottling Out
5)

The practice of “bottling out” shall not take place between the hours of 23:00 and
08:00.(Note, Bottling out is the tipping of empty bottles or cans into refuse bins.)
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties in
accordance with Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.
Amplified Sound

6) No amplified sound, music or speakers shall be used outside the premises nor
positioned or used to provide sound to the outside area.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties in
accordance with Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.
11.2. Listed Building Consent Application WNN/2021/0288 is recommended for
approval subject to the following conditions:
Time Limit
1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
Plans
2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans: 004377B External Seating Plan and Floor Plans
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to accord with the terms of the listed
building consent application.

Page 58

Page 59

This page is intentionally left blank

